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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

DAVID AGOADO, LEEANN MCNALLY,
CRAIG MOORE, CHRIS PIERRE,
THOMAS SHARKEY, and DOREEN
VAZQUEZ, individually and on behalf of
all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

- against - REPORT AND
RECOMMENDATION

MIDLAND FUNDING, LLC, MIDLAND

FUNDING, LLC DBA IN NEW YORK AS CV 14-18 (WFK) (AKT)
MIDLAND FUNDING OF DELAWARE, LLC,

and MIDLAND CREDIT MANAGEMENT, INC.,

RUBIN & ROTHMAN, LLC, FORSTER &

GARBUS LLP, COHEN & SLAMOWITZ, LLP,

SELIP & STYLIANOU, and PRESSLER AND

PRESSLER LLP,

Defendants.
X

A. KATHLEEN TOMLINSON, Magistrate Judge:

1. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiffs David Agoado, Leeann McNally, Craig Moore, Chris Pierre, Thomas Sharkey,
and Doreen Vazquez (the “Plaintiffs””) commenced this consumer credit putative class action
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated against Defendants Midland Funding,
LLC, Midland Funding, LLC d/b/a in New York as Midland Funding of Delaware, LLC, and
Midland Credit Management (collectively, the “Midland Defendants”) and Rubin & Rothman,
LLC, Forster & Garbus LLP, Cohen & Slamowitz, LLP, Selip & Stulianou, and Pressler and
Pressler LLP (collectively, the “Attorney Defendants”). Generally, Plaintiffs allege that

Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of fraudulently obtaining default judgments against
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consumers by bringing debt collection actions that Defendants knew they could not prove. See
generally Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) [DE 45].

Plaintiffs now move to file a fourth amended complaint -- after discovery has closed and
after the time to amend pleadings has expired. See Plaintiffs’ Notice of Motion and Motion to
Submit the Fourth Amended Class Action Complaint (“Pls.” Mot.) [DE 225]; Plaintiffs’ Reply in
Support (“Pls.” Reply”) [DE 229]. Defendants oppose the Motion to Amend, primarily based on
arguments of futility. See Declaration of Andrew M. Schwartz, Esq. on behalf of Defendants
Midland Funding LLC and Midland Credit Management Inc.’s Opposition of Plaintiffs’ Motion
for Leave to Amend (“Schwartz Decl.”) [DE 226]; Midland Defendants’ Memorandum in
Opposition to Motion to Amend (“Midland Opp’n”) [DE 227]; Defendant Forster & Garbus
Joinder Letter Opposing Motion to Amend (“F & G Joinder Letter””) [DE 228].

Further, Defendant law firm Rubin & Rothman moves for sanctions (the “Sanctions
Motion”) against Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs’ counsel based on the contention that Plaintiffs filed an
improper and unauthorized Third Amended Complaint (“TAC”). See Defendant Rubin &
Rothman’s Notice of Motion for Sanctions (“Defs.” Not.”) [DE 231]. The other law firm
Defendants -- Forster & Garbus and Cohen & Slamowitz -- have joined in the sanctions motion.
See DE 232 and 233. In addition to rendering a Report and Recommendation to Judge Kuntz on
the Motion to Amend, the Court is also addressing the Sanctions Motion as part of this Report
and Recommendation because the two are closely intertwined. For the reasons which follow,
this Court respectfully recommends to Judge Kuntz that (1) Plaintiffs’ motion to amend be

GRANTED and (2) Defendants’ motions for sanctions be GRANTED.
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II. PROCEDURAL POSTURE

In the SAC, Plaintiffs’ allegations of fraud are premised on Defendants’ use of affidavits
which allegedly misstate the statutory language of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA”). The SAC also asserts that Defendants utilized as affiants employees of the Midland
Defendants who lacked personal knowledge of the account information to which they were
attesting. SAC 9 3, 8. After the instant case was commenced and after the SAC was filed, a
class action against Midland was settled in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio. See Vassalle v. Midland Funding, LLC, Case No. 3:11-CV-0096, 2014 WL
5162380, at *1 (N.D. Ohio Oct. 14, 2014). That settlement enjoined certain claims against
Midland regarding its use of affidavits by employees who lacked personal knowledge. /d.

The Midland Defendants sought a stay of the instant action because they had moved to
hold Plaintiffs and their counsel in contempt in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio in connection with the class settlement and injunction issued in the Vassalle
case. DE 190. In the motion to stay, counsel for the Midland Defendants noted that the instant
case concerns claims for relief which were previously settled and prospectively enjoined by the
Vassalle settlement. Id. the Midland Defendants also pointed out that two of the named
Plaintiffs in this case, namely, Pierre and Vazquez, were members of the Vassalle class, who
elected not to opt out of the Vassalle settlement. Id. Plaintiffs opposed the motion to stay as
untimely, arguing that the Midland Defendants had “impliedly waived the concern before the
Northern District of Ohio and expressly waived its arguments here, because it did not raise them

as affirmative defenses in its answer, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c).” DE 191.
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After considering the arguments of the parties as well as the Vassalle settlement, this
Court granted a stay of the instant proceedings on July 19, 2017 while the district court in the
Northern District of Ohio decided whether the claims brought here by Plaintiffs Vazquez and
Pierre were encompassed within the Vassalle settlement and were subject to the injunction issued
by the Ohio federal court. DE 198. As a result of the stay, this Court stated the following:

the Court is terminating the current summary judgment motions as
well as the related motions pending in the instant action . . . without
prejudice, and with the right to reinstatement, contingent upon the
receipt of a joint letter from counsel in this action: (1) confirming
that Midland’s motion to enforce the permanent injunction entered
in the case entitled Vassalle v.Midland Funding LLC, No. 3:11-cv-
0096, pending in the federal court for the Northern District of Ohio
and for a show cause order of contempt, has been decided; (2) setting
forth the actual District Judge’s decision on that motion; and (3) the
impact, if any, of the outcome of the Northern District of Ohio
decision on the summary judgment briefs in the instant case and
whether there is a need for supplemental briefing. The joint letter
must be submitted to this Court no later than 21 days after entry of
the district judge’s decision in the Northern District of Ohio.

ld.
Somewhat ironically, the motion for sanctions against Plaintiffs in Ohio resulted in an

order to enforce by that court the very same day this Court issued its decision on the stay.
Specifically, the Order issued by United States District Judge Jack Zouhary of the Northern
District of Ohio stated that

... this Court concludes that Respondents' may not pursue claims
on behalf of a Vassalle class member which rely upon or include a

' These are the Plaintiffs in the instant action. The original Verified Complaint in this

case was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Suffolk and named
Steven Italiano, June Gioia, Susan White, Doreen Vazquez and Chris Pierre as Plaintiffs,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated. See DE 1, Ex. A. On January 2, 2014,
the Midland Defendants removed the case to the federal court for the Eastern District of New
York. See DE 1. Subsequently, by stipulation of the parties, Plaintiffs agreed to withdraw their
motion to remand the case and Defendants agreed to Plaintiffs’ filing an Amended Complaint.
DE 19. When Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaint on August 19, 2014, Steven

4
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claim that Midland used affidavits made without personal

knowledge in debt-collection lawsuits. Respondents shall

withdraw any such claims raised in the /taliano and Mason

lawsuits, and Respondents shall not seek certification of any

class including Vassalle class members that seeks relief on that

basis. . .. Accordingly, this Court grants Midland’s Motion to

enforce the Vassalle release.
July 19, 2017 Order (Zouhary, Jack, J.), Northern District of Ohio in Vassalle, et al. v. Midland
Funding, LLC, et al., Case No. 3:11 CV 96 (“July 19, 2017 Zouhary Order”’) [DE 200-1],
attached as Exhibit A to Parties” August 9, 2017 Joint Letter in Accordance with the July 19,
2017 Order of this Court (“Joint Letter””) [DE 200].

The next day, July 20, 2017, counsel for Defendant Rubin & Rothman filed a letter
informing the Court of Judge Zouhary’s decision and asserting that the decision had a major
impact on the summary judgment motions previously filed and that supplemental briefing would
be necessary. DE 199. Counsel further stated that he was reserving his client’s right to seek
other relief “against the Plaintiffs Pierre and Vazquez, and their attorneys, which may be
available to my client for compelling my client to defend against legal claims advanced in the
above-entitled lawsuit which were precluded by the Vassalle injunction.” Id. On August 9,
2017, the Parties filed a Joint Letter attaching a copy of Judge Zouhary’s decision and pointing
out that the Judge (1) granted the motion to enforce the Vassalle release and (2) denied, without
prejudice, Midland’s request for a contempt finding, subject to [Plaintiffs’] compliance with that

Order. DE 200. With the exception of Defendant Rubin & Rothman, the remaining Defendants

did not believe that supplemental briefing was necessary, nor did Plaintiffs. /d.

Italiano, June Gioia and Susan White were no longer listed as Plaintiffs. Instead, the first named
Plaintiff became David Agoado. See DE 45.



Case 2:14-cv-00018-WFK-AKT Document 246 Filed 03/04/20 Page 6 of 38 PagelD #: 7519

This Court set the case down for hearing on November 15, 2017. See October 17, 2017
Electronic Order. At that hearing, the Court informed counsel that having reviewed Judge
Zouhary’s decision as well as the subsequent filings of the parties, the Court had determined that
proceeding on the existing papers was not feasible and that new briefing would be required. See
November 15, 2017 Civil Conference Minute Order [DE 206]. However, the Court advised that
prior to undertaking further briefing, Plaintiffs needed to file a Third Amended Complaint in
order to address the changes needed to be made in light of Judge Zouhary’s decision which
clearly impacted the pleadings. DE 206. Plaintiffs were directed to file their Third Amended
Complaint by December 15, 2017. Id. Once Plaintiffs did so, Defendants would be permitted to
(1) file an Answer; (2) move to dismiss; or (3) move immediately to summary judgment motion
practice. Id.

Once Plaintiffs filed their Third Amended Class Action Complaint [DE 207], counsel for
Defendant Rubin & Rothman filed a letter on behalf of all the Defendants stating, among other
things, that “Plaintiffs have brazenly, and for the first time in this litigation, alleged claims
against the law firm Defendants based upon the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA).”
DE 209 (emphasis in original). Counsel went on to add the following:

As to the Midland Defendants, Plaintiffs have impermissibly expanded their

class claims to include a Nationwide class definition and the latest iteration

of the complaint still consists of impertinent statements masquerading as

fact. Despite the assurances of Plaintiffs' counsel at the November 15th

conference, the TAC not only fails to streamline the litigation, but serves to

the contrary by impermissibly expanding the claims.

In addition to the foregoing, the Plaintiffs Pierre and Vazquez are still

alleging claims against the Defendant Rubin & Rothman, LLC which are

based upon the subject Midland affidavits. Said Defendant believes these

claims are precluded by the Vassalle injunction.

In sum, all Defendants are miffed as to why the Plaintiffs filed the TAC in
light of the discussions which occurred at the status conference on
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November 15th. To compel the Defendants to now formally respond to the
TAC in the present form would be extremely prejudicial.

Id. Defendants requested a hearing to discuss these issues. /d. In an opposing letter, Plaintiffs’
counsel emphasized that his request at the November 15, 2017 hearing was to amend the
complaint to “fully conform with the evidence” [DE 213] and not to be limited in the manner
argued by the Defendants.

In its Order setting the matter down for a hearing, the Court directed Plaintiffs' counsel to
submit a copy of the Third Class Action Amended Complaint which had been served, highlighted to
show the specific changes (additions and subtractions) made to the pleading from the Second
Amended Complaint which was filed at DE 45. At the conclusion of the November 7, 2018
conference, after hearing from all parties, the Court struck the Third Amended Complaint for failure
to comply with the Orders of the Court. See November 7, 2018 Civil Conference Minute Order
[DE 219]. Since Plaintiffs wished to proceed with a formal motion under the Federal Rules to
amend the SAC at that juncture, the Court set a briefing schedule with counsel. DE 219.

I11. THE OPERATIVE PLEADING

A. The Second Amended Complaint

The following allegations are taken from Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, filed on
August 19, 2014, which is the current operative pleading in this action. See generally SAC
[DE 45]. Defendant Midland Funding, LLC is a Delaware company “which transacts business in
the State of New York or contracts to supply services in the State of New York.” /d. 9 23. The
SAC asserts that Midland Funding, LLC is the “successor in interest to or an alter ego of
Midland Funding, LLC d/b/a in New York as Midland Funding of Delaware, LLC.” Id. The
company purchases consumer debt from the originating creditor and then seeks to collect this

debt. Id.
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Defendant MCM is a Kansas corporation engaged in the business of collecting debts in
New York and across the county and “regularly attempts to collect debts alleged to be due to
another.” Id. 4 24. All of the Attorney Defendants are retained by the Midland Defendants to
file debt collection actions in New York courts. /d. 49 25-28. The individually named Plaintiffs
are consumers — as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) — against whom Defendants initiated debt
collection actions. Id. 9 16-22.

According to the SAC, “*debt buyers’ like Midland buy defaulted, charged-off debts for
pennies on the dollar and then seek to collect the full face value of the debts for themselves.” Id.
9 36. Plaintiffs emphasize that Midland purchases nonrecourse debt accounts “without the
primary or supporting documentation to establish a valid consumer debt or that [Midland] is the
assignee of the consumer debt from the originating creditor.” Id. § 38. Midland “aggressively”
seeks to collect on these nonrecourse debt obligations and the Attorney Defendants have “caused
tens of thousands of dunning letters to be sent and telephone calls to be made to alleged debtors
without ever having supporting documentation as evidence of the consumer debt.” Id. §41. If
the dunning letters and telephone calls do not result in payment, the Attorney Defendants draft
form New York State court complaints -- without sufficient documentation (or none) “and
without prior reasonable investigation into the validity of the consumer debt.” Id. 4 43.

The SAC alleges that instead of evidence in admissible form, “Midland crafts its
employee affidavits in order to mislead the least-sophisticated consumer” by use of boilerplate
language. Id. 4 50. In support of these debt collection actions, typically in the default judgment
context, Defendants submit such affidavits which allegedly: (1) misstate the statutory language

of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA™), 15 U.S.C. § 1692(g); and (2) are
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“robosigned” and misrepresent that the affiant has personal knowledge of the account
information underlying the debt. Id. 99 3, 50-54.
There are two classes asserted in the SAC:

1. “All persons who were or are residents and consumers in the State
of New York from September 19, 2008 and continuing through the
present (the “Midland Class Period”), against whom Defendants
commenced lawsuits, or threatened to commence lawsuits, against
Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class for the collection of
consumer debt for which Defendants had insufficient evidence of
the existence of the consumer debt. Excluded from the Class are the
officers and directors of Defendants at all relevant times, members
of their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs,
successors or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants have or
had a controlling interest”; and

2. “All persons who were residents and consumers in the State of New
York from May 16, 2008 through the present (the “Attorney
Defendant Class Period”), against whom the Attorney Defendants
commenced lawsuits, or threatened to commence lawsuits on behalf
of Midland, against Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class for
the collection of consumer debt for which the Attorney Defendants
had insufficient evidence of the existence of the consumer debt, or
failed to conduct a proper investigation under the circumstances.
Excluded from the Class are the partners and employees of the
Attorney Defendants at all relevant times, members of their
immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors
or assigns, and any entity in which the Attorney Defendants have or
had a controlling interest.”

1d. 4 29(a), (b). The SAC also lists four causes of action: (1) a claim arising under New York
General Business Law § 349 against all Defendants for engaging in deceptive and materially
misleading consumer conduct; (2) an FDCPA claim based on violations of 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692¢
and 1692f against the Midland Defendants for using false, deceptive, or misleading
representations in connection with collecting debt; (3) violations of New York Judiciary Law

§ 487 against the Attorney Defendants for intending to deceive consumer-defendants in multiple
New York courts; and (4) unjust enrichment against all Defendants. See id. 9 90-112.

Responsive pleadings were previously filed, discovery was exchanged, and multiple summary

9
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judgment motions had been fully briefed. On May 1, 2017, Judge Azrack referred the motions
for summary judgment [DE 150, 171, 173, 174, and 175] to this Court for a Report and
Recommendation. Other motions concerning issues ancillary to the summary judgment motions
[DE 146, 176, 178, 186, and 187] were referred to this Court for decision. See Judge Azrack’s
May 1, 2017 Electronic Order.

B. The Motion to Amend and Proposed Fourth Amended Complaint

As laid out above, at the November 7, 2018 hearing, the Court struck the TAC for failure
to comply with this Court’s prior orders. See DE 219. The Court reiterated its previous
directive, which was for the TAC to “remov|[e] from the second amended complaint those factors
that should have been taken into account as a result of Judge Zouhary’s decision,” noting that
there was “no authorization . . . to add a new class” and “no carte blanche given to completely
remake this complaint.” Transcript of Proceedings held November 7, 2018 (“11/7/18 Tr.”) at 16,
19. Looking forward, and noting that the time to amend pleadings had long since expired and
that Fed. R. Civ. P. 16 must also be taken into consideration, the Court set a briefing schedule for
Plaintiffs to file a motion to amend, should they choose to pursue that option. DE 220 at 22.
The briefing schedule was memorialized in the Court’s Minute Order dated November 7, 2019.
DE 219.

The fully briefed motion papers were filed on January 24, 2019. Notably, Plaintiffs’

motion papers do not include a memorandum of law in violation of Local Civil Rule 6.1.
DE 225. Hence, Plaintiffs’ motion papers do not contain any discussion of the law which applies

to this motion.? Instead, in their Notice of Motion, Plaintiffs state that the FAC asserts no new

2 Plaintiffs’ proposed Fourth Amended Class Action Complaint (the “FAC”) is
attached as Exhibit “A” to the Attorney Declaration of Gregory A. Frank, Esq., in Support of

10
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claims and amends the class definitions to clarify that claims by class members who were sued
by Midland before March 11, 2011 and which sought relief based on “an affidavit used in a debt-
collection lawsuit brought by Midland [that] was executed by a person who lacked personal
knowledge of the facts stated in the affidavit,” are excluded. Pls.” Mot. at 3.

The allegations set forth in the proposed FAC are based upon “deceptive affidavits” which
Defendants used in debt collection lawsuits. FAC 4 9. The FAC asserts that the Attorney
Defendants commenced or threatened to commence tens of thousands of lawsuits against
Plaintiffs and other members of the class “without having conducted a reasonable investigation
as to the facts they were alleging.” Id. Plaintiffs further charge that the Attorney Defendants
“were aware that Midland’s practices were to have no supporting documentation, that [Midland]
could not obtain supporting documentation, and that Midland would, nevertheless, provide
deceptive affidavits when no reasonable investigation could be done.” /Id.

Direct references to affidavits based on “personal knowledge” which appeared in the SAC
do not appear in the FAC. According to Plaintiffs, the two New York state classes in the FAC
are the same as those alleged in the TAC, with language specifically excluding claims based on
the so-called “personal knowledge” affidavits. In addition, Plaintiffs maintain that the FAC does
not include the third class which was alleged in the TAC -- the nationwide class against the
Midland Defendants. Pls.” Mot. at 3. Plaintiffs assert that the FAC contains the same causes of
action as alleged in the SAC. Frank Decl. q 5.

The Midland Defendants oppose the proposed FAC and contend that Plaintiffs should

instead proceed with the SAC as the operative complaint. DE 226, 227. According to the

Plaintiffs’ Motion to Submit Their Fourth Amended Class Action Complaint (“Frank Decl.”)
[DE 225-1].

11
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Midland Defendants, the proposed amendments are futile because “the . . . modifications and
amendments reflect no material change from the SAC. . . . It does not remove any causes of
action, no new issues are raised and/or added and the amendments are not substantive.” DE 227
at4, 10-11. “Rather, Plaintiffs’ efforts in the proposed FAC purport to remove the improper
claims prohibited by Vassalle, but in doing so convert them to more generalized claims that
could potentially be broader than the claims previously asserted.” Id. Moreover, the Midland
Defendants argue that “Plaintiffs have provided no cause, let alone good cause, to permit this
untimely amendment to the SAC.” Id. at 12. Defendant law firm Forster & Garbus joined the
Midland Defendants’ opposition. DE 228.

In their reply, Plaintiffs contend the FAC has clarified that Plaintiffs do not seek relief
which is duplicative of the award in Vassalle. Pls.” Reply at 2. Plaintiffs maintain they have
good cause pursuant to Rule 16 to submit the FAC because “they have been ordered to do so,”
id., and that “Midland cannot meet its burden of establishing prejudice,” id. at 6. In addition,
Plaintiffs argue that the Court should strike the Midland Defendants’ opposition because their
memorandum of law is more than ten pages long but lacks a table of contents and authorities, in
violation of this Court’s Individual Practice Rule ITI(C)(2). Id. at 8. Although failures to adhere
to Individual Practice Rules are not condoned, the Court rejects this argument because, notably,
Plaintiffs themselves did not submit a memorandum of law in support of their motion to amend
— despite direction by this Court to do so — and they did not cite a single case in support of their
motion to amend until their reply brief.

C. The Joint Motion for Sanctions
Defendant law firm Rubin & Rothman also filed a motion for sanctions -- in which the

other named Defendants have joined -- based on Plaintiffs’ filing of the TAC. See DE 231-234.

12
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Defendants seek attorneys’ fees and costs as well as payment for the “unnecessary expenditure of
[the] court[’s] time” since, as a result of the TAC, Defendants had to move to stay the Court’s
November 7, 2018 Order concerning dispositive motion briefing and, once again, had to oppose
Plaintiffs’ proposed amendments presented in the FAC. See Defendants’ Memorandum of Law
in Support of Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs (“Defs.” Mem. II”’) [DE 231-1] at 8, 9.
Defendants specifically take issue with the FDCPA claim asserted in the TAC against the
Attorney Defendants and the addition of a nationwide class against the Midland Defendants. /d.
at 3. In addition, Defendants note that Plaintiffs’ counsel asked to conform the TAC to the
evidence at the November 7, 2018 hearing, which Defendants did not consent to nor did the
Court authorize, contrary to Plaintiffs’ representations. Id. at 7. As a result, Defendants ask the
Court to compel Plaintiffs’ counsel to pay Defendants’ fees and costs under 28 U.S.C. § 1927 for
“vexatiously and baselessly multiplying these proceedings” or, alternatively, pursuant to the
Court’s inherent powers. Id. at 8-10.

In their opposition, Plaintiffs take the position that “[t]his Circuit’s courts impose
attorney’s fees and costs only if a litigation decision was purely motivated by an improper
purpose, such as to delay the litigation.” Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Rubin & Rothman,
LLC’s Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs (“Pls.” Opp’n II””) [DE 235] at 1 (citing In re 60 E.
80™ St. Equities, Inc., 218 F.3d 109, 115 (2d Cir. 2000)) (emphasis in original). Plaintiffs argue
that in filing the TAC, their “aim was to conform their claims and theories to the evidence
already propounded during discovery, and they believed, erroneously, that this Court had
approved that approach.” Pls.” Opp’n Il at 1. According to the Plaintiffs, the Defendants’
arguments fall “far short of proving that Plaintiffs’ counsel deliberately acted in bad faith” and

that Plaintiffs’ counsel “engaged in good-faith, zealous advocacy when they filed the Third

13
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Amended Class Action Complaint . . . that [Rubin & Rothman] now challenges as sanctionable.”
Id. Plaintiffs assert that an award under § 1927 is only proper where the attorneys’ actions “are
so completely without merit as to require the conclusion” that they had to have been taken for
some improper purpose. Id. at 3. Plaintiffs’ opposition spends considerable time discussing the
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s 2015 regulatory action against Midland after this case
had been commenced as well as the fact depositions taken in this case -- all in support of
Plaintiffs’ contention that this information revealed the existence of new claims, therefore
justifying amendment of the pleadings. Id. at 7-9. According to Plaintiffs’ counsel, they had a
good faith basis to assert FDCPA claims against the Attorney Defendants and to define a
nationwide class. Id. at 14-18. As a result, Plaintiffs claim that Defendant Rubin & Rothman
cannot establish that the TAC was filed for an improper purpose and, hence, sanctions are not
warranted. /d. at 20-22.

I11. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that in cases where a party
cannot amend as a matter of course, “a party may amend its pleading only with the opposing
party’s written consent or the court’s leave.” See Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a); DaCosta v. City of New
York, No. 15-CV-5174, 2017 WL 5176409, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 8, 2017), reconsideration
denied sub nom. DaCosta v. Tranchina, 285 F. Supp. 3d 566 (E.D.N.Y. 2018). Whether to grant
leave to amend is a decision squarely within the district court’s discretion. Krupski v. Costa
Crociere S. p. A., 130 S.Ct. 2485, 2489 (2010) (citing Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.
Ct. 227,9 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1962)) (Rule 15(a) “gives a district court discretion to decide whether
to grant a motion to amend a pleading before trial.”). A court “should freely give leave when

justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a); Igbal v. Ashcroft, 574 F.3d 820, 822 (2d Cir. 2009)

14
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(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)). “Amendments are generally favored because they tend to
facilitate a proper decision on the merits.” Johnson v. Landmark Hosp. LLC, No. 14CV 6839,
2016 WL 843286, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 1, 2016) (citing Blaskiewicz v. Cty. of Suffolk, 29 F.
Supp. 2d 134, 137 (E.D.N.Y. 1998)); Alistate Ins. Co. v. Elzanaty, 916 F. Supp. 2d 273, 302
(E.D.N.Y. 2013) (citing Sokolski v. Trans Union Corp., 178 F.R.D. 393, 396 (E.D.N.Y. 1998)).

This liberal standard requires only that the movant provide “colorable grounds™ for the
relief sought. See UMG Recordings, Inc. v. Lindor, No. CV-05-1095, 2006 WL 3335048, at *2
(E.D.N.Y. Nov. 9, 2006); Alkhatib v. New York Motor Group, LLC, No. CV 13-2337, 2015 WL
3507340, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. June 3, 2015) (“If the movant has at least colorable grounds for relief,
justice . . . requires that the court grant leave to amend the complaint.”) (quoting Sokolski, 178
F.R.D. at 396); Fiske v. Church of St. Mary of the Angels, 802 F. Supp. 872, 877 (W.D.N.Y.
1992). It is the opposing party who bears the burden to establish that an amendment would
indeed be futile. See Balk, 2013 WL 6990767, at *5; Alkhatib, 2015 WL 3507340, at *7;
Blaskiewicz v. Cty. Of Suffolk, 29 F. Supp. 2d 134, 137-38 (E.D.N.Y. 1998) (citing Harrison v.
NBD Inc., 990 F. Supp. 179, 185 (E.D.N.Y. 1988)).

However, where, as here, a motion to amend is filed after the deadline set by the Court in
a scheduling order, the motion is subject to the more demanding standard of Rule 16(b). See
Parker v. Columbia Pictures Indus., 204 F.3d 326, 340 (2d Cir.2000); Ricciardi v. Kimco
Facilities Servs. Corp., No. 10-CV-5731, 2012 WL 6761533, at * 1 (E.D.N.Y. June 12, 2012)
adopted by 2013 WL 42416 (E.D.N.Y. Jan.3, 2013); Alexander v. Westbury Union Free Sch.
Dist., 829 F.Supp.2d 89, 117 (E.D.N.Y.2011); Sokol Holdings, Inc., v. BMB Munai, Inc., 05—

CV-3749, 2009 WL 2524611, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Aug.14, 2009).

15
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The purpose of Rule 16(b) is “to offer a measure of certainty in pretrial proceedings,
ensuring that at some point both the parties and the pleadings will be fixed.” Parker v. Columbia
Pictures Indus., 204 F.3d 326, 339-40 (2d Cir. 2000) (internal citations and quotation marks
omitted) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 16 advisory committee's note (1983 amendment, discussion of
subsection (b)). Thus, “[w]here a scheduling order has been entered, the lenient standard under
Rule 15(a), which provides leave to amend ‘shall be freely given,” must be balanced against the
requirement under Rule 16(b) that the Court's scheduling order ‘shall not be modified except
upon a showing of good cause.”” Grochowski v. Phoenix Constr., 318 F.3d 80, 86 (2d Cir. 2003)
(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 15 and 16)); see Parker, 204 F.3d at 340; Perfect Pearl Co. v. Majestic
Pearl & Stone, Inc., 889 F. Supp. 2d 453, 457 (S.D.N.Y. 2012). The balancing act between
Rules 15(a) and 16(b) is necessary to prevent a scheduling order from being rendered
meaningless and undermine a court’s ability to manage its docket. Eberle v. Town of
Southampton, No. 12 Civ. 4472, 2013 WL 6198298, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 27, 2013).

Whether good cause exists under Rule 16(b) turns on the “diligence of the moving party.”
Parker, 204 F.3d at 340. To show good cause, “the movant must demonstrate that it is has been
diligent in its effort to meet the Court’s deadlines.”” Chrebet v. Cnty. of Nassau, No. 09 CV
4249, 2014 WL 1836835, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. May 8, 2014) (quoting Sokol Holdings, Inc. v. BMD
Munai, Inc., No. 05 CIV. 3749, 2009 WL 2524611, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 2009) aff’d sub
nom. Sokol Holdings, Inc. v. BMB Munai, Inc., No. 05 CV 3749, 2009 WL 3467756 (S.D.N.Y.).
“In other words, the party must show that, despite its having exercised diligence, the applicable
deadline could not have been reasonably met.” Sokol, 2009 WL 2524611, at *8 (citing Parker,
204 F.3d at 340; Rent—A—Center Inc. v. 47 Mamaroneck Ave. Corp., 215 F.R.D. 100, 104

(S.D.N.Y. 2003)). “A party fails to show good cause when the proposed amendment rests on
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information ‘that the party knew, or should have known, in advance of the deadline.”” Perfect
Pearl v. Majestic Pearl & Stone, Inc., 889 F. Supp. 2d 453, 457 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (quoting Sokol,
2009 WL 2524611, at *8); see Lamothe v. Town of Oyster Bay, No. 08—cv—-2078, 2011 WL
4974804, at *5-6, (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 19, 2011).

While diligence is the “primary consideration” in the good cause analysis, it is not the
only consideration. See Kassner v. 2nd Ave. Delicatessen Inc., 496 F.3d 229, 244 (2d Cir. 2007)
(addressing application of Rule 16(b) to situation where Rule 15(a) would otherwise permit
amendment as of right). “The district court, in the exercise of its discretion under Rule 16(b),
also may consider other relevant factors including, in particular, whether allowing the
amendment of the pleading at this stage of the litigation will prejudice defendants.” /d.; see
Hernandez v. Immortal Rise, Inc., No. 11 CV 4360, 2013 WL 1703529, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 19,
2013) adopted in part by, 2014 WL 991715 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 13, 2014); Ritchie Risk Limited
Strategies Trading (Ireland), Ltd. v. Coventry First LLC, 282 F.R.D. 76, 79 n. 2 (S.D.N.Y.
2012).

Notwithstanding the foregoing principles, leave to amend may be denied where there is
“undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure
deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue
of allowance of the amendment, futility of the amendment, etc.” Williams v. Citigroup Inc., 659
F.3d 208, 213-214 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting Foman, 371 U.S. at 182); SCS Commc 'n, Inc. v.
Herrick Co., Inc., 360 F.3d 329, 345 (2d Cir. 2004). In assessing futility, courts must analyze
“whether a proposed pleading would be able to withstand a dispositive pretrial motion.” Themis
Capital, LLC v. Democratic Republic of Congo, No. 09 Civ. 1652, 2013 WL 1687198, at *6

(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 18, 2013) (citing Parker, 204 F.3d at 339); Touchtunes Music Corp. v. Rowe Int’l
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Corp., 847 F. Supp. 2d 606, 621 (S.D.N.Y. 2012)). With respect to the Rule 15(a) factors, “[t]he
party opposing the motion for leave to amend has the burden of establishing that an amendment
would be prejudicial or futile.” See Cummings-Fowler v. Suffolk Cmty. Coll., 282 F.R.D. 292,
296 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (citing Blaskiewicz v. Cnty. of Suffolk, 29 F. Supp. 2d 134, 137-38
(E.D.N.Y. 1998)).
IV.  DISCUSSION

A. Motion to Amend

1. “Good Cause” Under Rule 16

This case is far from being in its early stages. The action was removed from state court
on January 2, 2014. DE 1. On April 10, 2014, Judge Wexl